
 

 

i

 

 

 

 

SPECIAL 
PLANNING 
AGENDA 

 

Tuesday, 17 May 2016 

 

The Jeffrey Room, St. Giles Square, Northampton, 
NN1 1DE. 

 
6:00 pm 

 
Members of the Committee 

 
Councillor: Brian Oldham (Chair), Matthew Lynch (Deputy Chair) 

Councillors: Jane Birch, Julie Davenport, Matthew Golby, Anamul Haque (Enam), 
James Hill, Jamie Lane, Phil Larratt, Arthur McCutcheon, Dennis 
Meredith and Mohammad Aziz Rahman 

  

 
Chief Executive David Kennedy 

 
 
If you have any enquiries about this agenda please contact 
democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk or 01604 837587  

mailto:democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE  

 AGENDA 

 
Meetings of the Planning Committee will take place at 6.00pm on 9 June, 30 June, 28 July, 2 September, 29 
September, 27 October, 24 November and 17

th
 December 2015 and 19 January, 16 February, 15 March, 12 

April, 10 May, 14 June 2016. 
 
The Council permits public speaking at the Planning Committee as outlined below: 
 
Who Can Speak At Planning Committee Meetings? 
 

 Up to 2 people who wish to object and up to 2 people who wish to support an individual planning 
applications or any other matter on the public agenda. 

 

 Any Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee. If both Ward Councillors sit on the 
Planning Committee, they may nominate a substitute Councillor to speak on their behalf.  

 

 A representative of a Parish Council. 
 

How Do I Arrange To Speak? 
 

 Anyone wishing to speak (not including Ward Councillors who must let the Chair know before the start of 
the meeting) must have registered with the Council‟s Democratic Services section not later than midday on 
the day of the Committee. 
NB: the Council operate a „first come, first serve‟ policy and people not registered to speak will not be 
heard. If someone who has registered to speak does not attend the meeting their place may be relocated 
at the discretion of the Chair. 
 
Methods of Registration: 
 

 By telephone: 01604 837722 

 In writing to:    Northampton Borough Council, The Guildhall, St. Giles Square, Northampton , NN1 
1DE, Democratic Services (Planning Committee) 

 By email to:     democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk  
When Do I Speak At The Meeting 

 
 A Planning Officer may update the written committee report then those registered to speak will be invited 

to speak. 

 Please note that the planning officer can summarise issues after all the speakers have been heard and 
before the matter is debated by the Planning Committee Members and a vote taken. 

 
How Long Can I Speak For? 
 

 All speakers are allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes. 
 
Other Important Notes 
 

 Speakers are only allowed to make statements – they may not ask questions of enter into dialogue with 
Councillors, Officers or other speakers. 

 Consideration of an application will not be delayed simply because someone who is registered to speak is 
not in attendance at the time the application is considered 

 Confine your points to Planning issues: Don‟t refer to non-planning issues such as private property rights, 
moral issues, loss of views or effects on property values, which are not a material consideration on which 
the decision will be based. 

 You are not allowed to circulate new information, plans, photographs etc that has not first been seen and 
agreed by the Planning Officers 

 Extensive late representations, substantial changes, alterations to proposals etc. will not be automatically 
accepted, due to time constraints on Councillors and Officers to fully consider such changes during the 
Planning Committee Meeting. 

mailto:democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk


 
 

 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

SPECIAL PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held: 
 

in The Jeffrey Room, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE. 
 

on Tuesday, 17 May 2016 
 

at 6:00 pm. 
 

D Kennedy 
Chief Executive  

AGENDA 

 
1. APOLOGIES   
 

2. DEPUTATIONS / PUBLIC ADDRESSES   
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PREDETERMINATION   
 

4. MATTERS OF URGENCY WHICH BY REASON OF SPECIAL 
CIRCUMSTANCES THE CHAIR IS OF THE OPINION SHOULD BE 
CONSIDERED   

 

5. N/2015/0479 - CHANGE OF USE FROM OFFICES (USE CLASS B1) INTO 
GURDWARA AND COMMUNITY CENTRE (USE CLASS D1) INCLUDING 
EXTENSIONS AND ALTERATIONS. COMMUNITY CENTRE, 35 - 37 ST 
JAMES MILL ROAD.   

(Copy herewith)  
 

6. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   

THE CHAIR TO MOVE: 
“THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM THE REMAINDER OF THE 
MEETING ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSURE TO 
THEM OF SUCH CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED BY 
SECTION 100(1) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS LISTED AGAINST 
SUCH ITEMS OF BUSINESS BY REFERENCE TO THE APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH 
OF SCHEDULE 12A TO SUCH ACT.”  
 

 SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA 
 

 Exempted Under Schedule  
12A of L.Govt Act 1972 
Para No:- 



 

 

 
 
PHOTOGRAPHY AND AUDIO/VISUAL RECORDINGS OF MEETINGS Anyone may record 
meetings of the Council, the Cabinet, any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council 
through any audio, visual or written method to include taking photographs of meetings, 
filming meetings or making audio recordings of meetings. The Chair of the meeting shall 
have the discretion to revoke the permission in the event that the exercise of the permission 
is disturbing the conduct of the meeting in any way or when it is otherwise necessary due to 
the nature of the business being transacted at the meeting. Permission may only be 
exercised where the public have the right to attend the meeting; and if a meeting passes a 
motion to exclude the press and public, then in conjunction with this, all rights to record the 
meetings are removed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

 
 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE: 17th May 2016 
DIRECTORATE: Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 
DIRECTOR:          Steven Boyes 
 
APPLICATION REF: N/2015/0479 
   

Community Centre, 35 - 37 St James Mill Road 

 
DESCRIPTION:  Change of use from offices (use class B1) into Gurdwara 

and community centre (use class D1) including 
extensions and alterations            

 
WARD:  St James Ward            
 
APPLICANT:  Siri Guru Singh Saba Northampton            
AGENT:  Resolution Planning            
 
REFERRED BY: Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning  
REASON: Of community interest 
               
DEPARTURE:  No 

 

 
APPLICATION FOR DETERMINATION: 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 

1.1 MINDED TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to: 
 

a) The Planning Committee agree that an independent assessment of the health and 
safety impacts of the proposed development be carried out, and the subsequent 
findings will be reported back to the Committee; 
 

b) The conditions as set out below and for the following reason:  
 
 The proposed development would be of benefit to the community and, subject to 

conditions, would have a neutral impact on flood risk, safety, the highway system, 
neighbour and visual amenity. The development is therefore in conformity with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy S10 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Policies B14 and E20 of the Northampton 
Local Plan. 

LOCATION: 

1

Agenda Item 5



 
2. THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1  The applicant seeks planning permission to change the use of the property from 

 offices to a place of worship and community centre. As part of the development, the 
 applicant is proposing extensions to the northern and eastern elevations. A number 
of alterations to the various elevations of the building are also proposed. 

   
3. SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
3.1 The application site currently consists of an office building, which has been vacant 

 since the autumn of 2012. The application site and the surrounding area are 
 allocated as being an existing business area. The surrounding area is characterised 
by the presence of commercial buildings, which are generally constructed to 
functional designs. Of further note is that the application site is in close proximity 
(approximately 100m) of a fuel storage depot. 

 
3.2 The site is predominantly level, with the building being surrounded by car parking and 
 vehicle manoeuvring areas. The site is also sited within an allocated flood zone. 
 
4. PLANNING HISTORY   

4.1 N/2012/0012 – Community Centre including extensions and alterations (Use Class 
 D1) – Approved but has since lapsed. 

5. PLANNING POLICY 
 

5.1 Statutory Duty 
 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise.  The Development Plan 
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted West Northamptonshire 
Joint Core Strategy (2014) and Northampton Local Plan (1997) saved policies.  The 
Council also has a statutory duty under the Town & Country Planning  (Development 
Management Procedure) Order (England) 2015 to consult the HSE on applications 
above certain thresholds and within the hazardous installations consultation zone. 
 

5.2  National Policies 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the current aims and 
objectives for the planning system and how these should be applied.  In delivering 
sustainable development, decisions should have regard to the mutually dependent 
social, economic and environmental roles of the planning system.  The NPPF should 
be read as one complete document.  

5.3 Paragraph 17 emphasises the importance of good design within the planning process 
and the need to secure a good standard of amenity for the future occupiers of the 
development and surrounding properties. In addition, paragraph 35 requires the 
creation of developments that contribute towards safe road layouts. Paragraph 100 
requires that developments are protected from inappropriate flood risk. 

5.4  Paragraph 194 requires that Local Planning Authorities consult the appropriate 
bodies when determining applications, for development around major hazards. 

2



5.5 West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2014) 

The West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) provides an up to date 
evidence base and considers the current Government requirements for plan making 
as it has been prepared in full conformity with the NPPF. Policies of particular 
relevance are: 
 
S10 – Sustainable Development Principles 
 

5.6 Northampton Local Plan 1997 (Saved Policies) 
 
 Due to the age of the plan, the amount of weight that can be attributed to the aims 

and objectives of this document are diminished, however, the following policies are 
material to this application: 

 B14 – Non-business uses 
 E20 – New development 
 
5.7 Supplementary Planning Documents 

 
  Northamptonshire County Parking Standards SPG 2003 
 
5.8  National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
  The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) states that the Health and Safety 

Executive‟s (HSE) role is an advisory one and that it has no power to direct refusal of 
planning permission or of hazardous substances consent; however, advice from the 
HSE should only be overridden following the most careful consideration. The 
guidance states „There may be particular issues to consider for hotels and similar 
developments where people may be unfamiliar with their surroundings, or which may 
result in a large number of people in one place…..In view of its acknowledged 
expertise in assessing off-site risks presented by the use of hazardous substances, 
any advice from the HSE that planning permission should be refused for 
development for ,at or near to hazardous installations or pipeline should not be 
overridden without the most careful consideration‟. In instances when a Local 

Planning Authority is minded to approve the application, the HSE should be re-
notified. This provides them with a period of time to consider the Council‟s proposed 
reasons for approval and to consider requesting that the application is „called in‟ by 
the Secretary of State. The NPPG advises that such „call in‟ powers are only used 
very selectively.  

 
6. CONSULTATIONS/ REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Comments received are summarised as follows: 

 
6.1 Environment Agency – No objections, subject to a condition relating to the 

 implementation of the recommendation of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment. 
 
6.2 Highway Authority (NCC) – Request a condition requiring the submission of a 
 Travel  Plan. This is required due to the age of the previous document and the 
 number of people that would be employed within the development. 
 
6.3 Health and Safety Executive – Recommend that planning permission is not granted 
 due to the proximity of the development to a fuel storage depot. Whilst it is noted that 
 an evacuation plan has been submitted, implementation of this can degrade over 

3



 time and events can happen quickly. It is the HSE‟s general advice that mitigation is 
 best secured through separation distances. 
 
6.4 Northamptonshire Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor – Make a number of 
 recommendations regarding possible improvements to security at the site, such as 
 door access controls. 
 
6.5 Environmental Health – Request planning condition to be imposed regarding 

contamination investigation. 
 
7. APPRAISAL 
 
7.1 It is recognised that the proposed development, which is a community use, is not 

located within  a residential area near to local communities. It is also recognised that 
the quantum of development proposed (being a place of worship, with a variety of 
other community functions) limits the likely number of buildings in such areas that 
could accommodate the type of development proposed in this application. It is 
considered appropriate to site the proposal within a more commercial area as this 
allows for suitable off-street car parking to be provided. In addition, the application 
site is reasonably close to St James Road, which is well served by public transport. 

 
7.2 It is also considered that the development would be of benefit to the community and it 

is noted that 20 full time members of staff would be employed, in addition to a 
number of part time positions. Therefore the scheme would generate community and 
employment benefits in line with the requirements of Policy B14 of the Northampton 
Local Plan. 

 
7.3 In addition, the application site was most recently used as offices and a canteen. The 

NPPF advises that such functions should be located within allocated centres in order 
to promote the viability and vitality of these locations. The proposal would replace a 
similarly non-conforming land use and, as a consequence, there would be no 
significant adverse impact upon the viability and vitality of the area or a significant 
loss of employment opportunities.  

 
7.4 By reason of the character of the surrounding area and the application site, it is 

considered that the revised appearance of the building would have a neutral impact 
upon visual amenity. In order to provide some certainty of this, a condition is 
recommended that would ensure that the Council approves construction materials. 
The separation distances between the development site and the surrounding 
buildings, combined with the scale of the proposals is sufficient to prevent any 
significant loss of amenity to surrounding properties in terms of considerations such 
as light, outlook and privacy. 

 
7.5 In line with the advice of the Highway Authority, a condition is recommended that 

would ensure the submission of an updated Travel Plan. This is needed as the 
previous document was drawn up in 2012 and due to the passage of time and the 
increase in the proposed number of staff working at the development.  

 
7.6 In order to ensure that the development does not adversely increase flood risk on the 

site or elsewhere, a condition is recommended to ensure that the development is 
constructed in accordance with details submitted with the application. This ensures 
that the proposal would proceed in line with the advice of the Environment Agency.  

 

4



7.7 The comments from Northamptonshire Police‟s Crime Prevention officer are noted, 
but it is considered that these are more related to the management of the site, rather 
than a land use planning matter. 

 
 Health and Safety issues 
 
7.8 The control of development in the vicinity of existing hazardous sites is informed 

through statutory consultation with the HSE. Site specific consultation zones are 
specified by HSE around all sites with hazardous substance consents and 
consultation with the HSE on planning applications within these zones is obligatory 
for all relevant development proposals such as residential development, and large 
retail, office or industrial developments. Consultation is also required on applications 
which are likely to result in an increase in the number of people working in or visiting 
the notified area. 
 

7.9 The site is in close proximity to a fuel storage depot, and 50% of it falls within the 
development proximity zone (DPZ), where the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 
advises against the granting of planning permission for all but “not normally occupied” 
development. On this basis, the HSE have raised objections regarding the proposed 
development. It is understood that the crux of these objections is that if there were to 
be an incident at the fuel storage depot, there may not be sufficient time to allow for 
the proposed development to be evacuated. 

 
7.10 Whilst the site could be returned to use as a commercial/office development without 

needing planning permission, and therefore would not require HSE consultation, the 
HSE remain concerned about the nature of the proposed community use and the fact 
that large events could attract visitors who are not familiar with the buildings, its 
surroundings and the evacuation plan, and therefore might not be able to safely 
evacuate the premises in an incident.  Therefore the HSE have placed less weight on 
the evacuation plan that has been prepared by the applicant as events can develop 
at a fast rate. It is the advice of the HSE that mitigation is more appropriately secured 
through ensuring separation between various uses. 

 
7.11 However, it is also important to consider, among other factors, the views expressed 

in Chapter 5 of the First Report of the Advisory Committee on Major Hazards (ACMH) 
and Chapter 4 of the Second Report of ACMH. In these reports it was stated that: 
"... the siting of developments should remain a matter for planning authorities to 
determine, since the safety implications, however important, could not be divorced 
from other planning considerations." and 
"... local authorities are well placed to take proper account of the full range of local 
factors, including safety issues, which are relevant to a planning decision." 
 
When assessing the HSE advice and the potential risk to users of the facility, HSE 
considers the following factors when deciding whether to call applications in; 
 

 The size of the development.  Whilst the Community Centre has the potential 
to attract increased numbers of visitors to the facility, the previous use, as a 
canteen within the Use Class B1 office element of the Cosworth site, was an 
unrestricted use in planning terms and could have attracted significant 
numbers of staff and visitors in its own right.  The size of the facility proposed 
is also not as significant as, for example, a large housing site and therefore is 
not of a major scale. 

 The extent of occupation.  The applicant has submitted details of potential use 
which confirms that whilst the community centre would be open every day, for 
the majority of the day there would be limited numbers of people on site.  

5



 The frequency of occupation.  The information submitted with the application 
also confirms that the occasions when the facility is likely to have significant 
numbers of visitors, such as weddings, are very limited. 

 The scale of the hazardous substance facility.  The fuel storage tanks are 
large, but the site as a whole is not as significant as, for example, as busy oil 
refinery, and therefore the potential risk is not of a major scale. 

 
7.12 As with any objection, it is necessary to weigh any potential harm against the likely 

benefits of the development. In this instance, it is considered that the presence of an 
evacuation plan, which can be secured through a planning condition, carries some 
weight in the determination of the planning application as this provides some 
assurances that the proposed development would operate with strategies in place to 
ensure that any event at the fuel storage depot could be responded to. Furthermore, 
the development does provide community benefits in the form of an enlarged place of 
worship, with improved parking facilities when compared to the existing site operated 
by the applicant. In addition, the development would provide a wide range of other 
facilities, including classrooms, a computer room, a library and meeting rooms.  

 
7.13 It is considered that weight should be given to the fact the proposed development 

would result in the reuse of a prominent and vacant site, creating a valuable 
community facility, whilst the proposed works would improve the appearance of the 
site, which would be beneficial to the visual amenity of the locality. 

 
7.14 Therefore, on balance, it is considered that the benefits of the scheme could 

outweigh the concerns of the HSE and these therefore should not form a barrier to 
the development proceeding.  However, given the technical nature of the issues 
raised, an independent assessment of the health and safety issues raised has been 
commissioned.  The results of this will be reported back to a future Committee 
meeting. 

 
7.15 Following the submission of this report, if members are in agreement that the 

proposal represents an acceptable form of development, the Council would be 
required to re-notify the HSE. They would then have a 21 day period to consider 
requesting that the application be determined by the Secretary of State, which is 
normally only „in cases of exceptional concern or where important policy or safety 
issues are at stake (NPPG, paragraph 072).  

 
7.16 As the planning condition requested by Environmental Health has previously been 

discharged, it is not necessary to impose such a condition in this instance. 
 
8. CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 It is considered, subject to the approval of an independent assessment of the health 

and safety issues raised by the proposal, that, on balance, the concerns raised by 
the HSE are outweighed by the securing an evacuation management plan and the 
benefits of the scheme in terms of creating an additional community facility. As the 
development would have a neutral impact upon the character and appearance of the 
area and neighbour amenity, it is considered that the development is acceptable. 
 

9. CONDITIONS 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

 
 Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6



 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: AA2093/2006; AA20093/2007; AA2093/2012; 
AA2093/2013; AA2093/2021; and AA2093/2022 

 
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to accord with the terms of the planning 

application. 
 
3. Details of all proposed external facing materials shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the development will 

harmonise with its surroundings in accordance with Policy E20 of the Northampton 
Local Plan. 

 
4. The premises shall be used as a place of worship and a community centre and for 

no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class D1 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 or in any provision equivalent to that 
Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification. 

 
  Reason: In order to ensure that the impacts of alternative uses are given full 

consideration by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the requirements 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 5. The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the 

approved flood risk assessment (FRA) BCAL Ref. 4492R003A FRA „revision A‟ 
dated 18 January 2012 and the following mitigation measured within it.  No ground 
floor sleeping accommodation as shown on Drawing 10-155-03 Rev. C dated 
June 10 (appendix B). 

 
  Reason: to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants in accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

  
6. Prior to the first occupation of the premises hereby approved, a travel plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The plan 
shall be implemented at all times that the development is occupied unless 
otherwise  agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

 
 Reason: To reduce the reliance on the private car for journeys to work in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
7. The refuse storage as shown on drawing AA2093/2022 shall be fully implemented 

prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall be 
retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of amenity and to secure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
8. The development hereby permitted shall at all times operate in accordance with 

the details contained within the submitted Health and Safety Policy, dated January 
2016. 

 

7



 Reason: In the interests of ensuring the safety of future users of the development 
in accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
10.1 N/2015/0479 
 
11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None 

 
12.  SUMMARY AND LINKS TO CORPORATE PLAN 
 
12.1 In reaching the attached recommendations regard has been given to securing the 

objectives, visions and priorities outlined in the Corporate Plan together with those of 
associated Frameworks and Strategies. 

 

8



 

9


	Agenda
	5 N/2015/0479 - Change of use from offices (use class B1) into Gurdwara and community centre (use class D1) including extensions and alterations. Community Centre, 35 - 37 St James Mill Road.

